

VIABILITY AND VIGOR OF PITOMBA SEEDS (*Talisia esculenta* (St. Hil) Radlk) IN TWO STAGES OF MATURATION IN THE DIFFERENT SUBSTRATES

Abstract

The socio-economic importance of pitomba fruits in the North and Northeast regions is a concrete fact, however, the commercialized fruits are still acquired from extractivism and cultivation in backyards without any use of technology aimed at their production. The experiment was carried out in the greenhouse of the Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Tocantins in the city of Gurupi - TO, between february 14 and June 2, 2019. The treatments applied to the seeds consisted of two stages of fruit maturation, which were classified as: ripe fruits collected in the plant with light brown peel color and ripe fruits collected on the ground with dark brown peel coloration. The substrates used were: Black Soil; Washed Sand; Commercial Substrate; Black Soil + Washed Sand + Humus; Sawdust Powder + Washed Sand + Commercial Substrate. The highest physiological quality was obtained from the seeds taken from the ripe fruits harvested in the plant, where the highest values, ripe fruits harvested in the plant and ripe fruits harvested from the ground, were obtained when the seeds were sowed in the substrates Sawdust Powder + Washed Sand + Commercial Substrate (92%; 70%), (97%; 73%) and Washed Sand substrate (84%; 67%), (90%; 65%) respectively, and lower on the substrate Black Soil (54%; 50%) and (60%; 60%), respectively. The pitomba seeds, removed from the ripe fruits harvested in the plant, sowing on the substrates: Sawdust Powder + Washed Sand + Commercial Substrate and Washed Sand, showed greater vigor and viability.

Comment [DjA1]: February

Keywords: Seeds, pitomba, physiological maturity, substrate, maturation.

Introduction

The Pitomba [*Talisia esculenta* excellent quality, with high protein content, flavonoids and carotenoids, soluble solids and vitamin C [7].

The Pitomba bunch contains 10 to 20 fruits, with bittersweet taste, ranging from white to transparent when ripe, being very pleasant to the palate [3]. The spread of pitomba is preferably by seeds [8], which are elongated, reddish foreheads after processing and dark when dried, thick, symmetrical cotyledons superimposed on the embryo [4], measuring about 2.51 and 1.36 cm in length and diameter, respectively, and fresh mass of 4.49 g [9].

The use of high-quality seeds is an essential factor in the implantation and success of a crop. The phase of maximum seed quality coincides with the physiological maturation point, which is reached when the seed has maximum dry mass content, marked reduction in water content, visible changes in the external aspect of fruits and seeds, culminating in maximum germination capacity and vigor of the same [10; 11].

There are many recommendations on the state of maturation in the choice of fruits, for the removal of seeds used in the propagation process. The observation of the maturation stage is of importance in the conservation of the germination power of seeds, and factors such as the nature of the seeds and environmental conditions affect their germination power [12; 13; 14]. The substrate is also an important factor for the development of seedlings, where different formulations guarantee good quality seedlings, if water and nutrients are supplied in adequate quantities [15]. However, each species has different behavior on the same substrate, being necessary to verify which substrate or combination of these allows obtaining seedlings with higher physiological quality [16; 17].

The socio-economic importance of pitomba fruits in the North and Northeast regions is a concrete fact, however, the commercialized fruits are still acquired from extractivism and cultivation in backyards without any use of technology aimed at their production [18; 19].

Therefore, the objective of this work was to determine the viability and vigor of pitomba seeds submitted to different substrates and stages of fruit maturation.

Material and Methods

The experiment was carried out in the greenhouse of the Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Tocantins in the city of Gurupi - TO, between February 14 and June 2, 2019. To perform the same, the Pitomba seeds were used taken (Cambess.) Radlk.] is a species belonging to the Sapindaceae family, native to the Amazon region, with wide occurrence in the Caatinga, Cerrado and Atlantic Forest [1]

Comment [DjA2]: February

up to 12 m high and 40 centimeter in diameter, whose wood is used in civil construction for internal structures [2]. The fruits (pitombas) are of the type small drupes and globose, much appreciated and marketed on highways, free fairs, and supermarkets in the North and Northeast regions [3].

The northeastern population uses the pulp of the fruit for in natura consumption and as raw material in the manufacture of jams, and sweets [4]. The pulp, in addition to antioxidant activity [5; 6], has physical, chemical, and functional characteristics of

directly from the fruits, harvested in the urban region of Gurupi - TO in the same period. The harvested fruits were selected and submitted to pulping. Size, water content, dry mass content, germination and vigor are the most relevant characteristics in seed maturation studies [20]. However, [21] warned that external visual characteristics, such as color, odor and texture of fruits and seeds are, in the field, good practical indicators to assist in determining the ideal point of seed harvesting.

The treatments applied to the seeds consisted of two stages of fruit maturation, which were classified as: ripe fruits collected in the plant with light brown peel color and ripe fruits collected on the ground with dark brown peel coloration. For pulping, the seeds were washed in a sieve with running water, to facilitate the separation process of the seed from the adhered pulp. After that, they were scattered on paper towels and remained in the shade for 12 hours.

The substrates used were: Black Soil (BS); Washed Sand (WS); Commercial Substrate (CS); Black Soil (BS) + Washed Sand (WS) + Humus; Sawdust Powder (SP) + Washed Sand (WS) + Commercial Substrate (CS). 100 seeds per substrate were used, divided into 4 replicates with 25 seeds each. All trays with the substrates already sowed were submitted to one irrigation per day throughout the seedling formation period.

After the installation of the experiment, the evaluation and data collection process began. The following characteristics were evaluated: Length of the root (RL) and shoot (SL): the seedlings were removed from the trays and with the aid of a ruler graduated in centimeters (cm), measured from the apical yolk to the end of the apical root, and measuring from the neck to the apex of the seedling. The results were expressed in cm, according to [22]; Shoot Dry Mass (SDM) and Root Dry Mass (RDM): seedlings were removed from the substrates, cut, and separated into shoot and root, then placed in paper bags properly identified according to the substrate, taken to a regulated greenhouse at a temperature of 65 °C, where they remained until constant

weight was reached. The results were expressed in grams per repetition, according to [22]; Number of leaves (NL): after seedling removal, the number of leaves was counted. The results were expressed in unity; First Emergence Count (FEC): was performed at 15 days after sowing. The collected data were corresponding to the accumulated percentage of normal seedlings, with values recorded for each substrate and Seedling Emergence (SE): The count of the number of germinated seeds started 21 days after sowing and extended until the emergence stabilization of seedlings. The criterion used was that of normal seedlings that present the perfect essential structures [23]. The data were submitted to variance analysis and the means compared by the Tukey test, using the Statistical Program Sisvar.

Results and Discussion

In general, the evaluated characteristics showed sensitivity by indicating differences between substrates and higher physiological quality for Pitomba seeds taken from ripe fruits harvested in the plant (Table 1), where the highest values, ripe fruits harvested in the plant and ripe fruits harvested on the ground, of root and shoot length, were obtained when the seeds were sown on the substrates SP + WS + CS (17.7 cm; 16.6 cm), (12.5 cm; 12.2 cm) and WS substrate (17.0 cm; 14.1 cm), (12.0 cm; 11.2 cm) respectively, and lower on the BS substrate (15.5 cm; 11.6 cm) and (8.9 cm; 7.8 cm), respectively. [24], state that the variable shoot length makes it possible to estimate the morphological quality of seedlings as a function that its measurement is easy and has a good contribution in the determination of quality. [25] highlight that the substrates with higher fertility, because they have better chemical, physical and biological attributes of the soil, should be used for seedling production. [26] also mention that substrates rich in phosphorus, calcium, and potassium, can be part of the composition of substrates for seedling production. The substrates that contained sand stood out, also evidencing the importance of aeration, avoiding soaking. [27] highlight that in addition to performing the supporting function of plants, the substrate should provide adequate water and air supply to the root system, be free of phytopathogens, easy to manage, low cost, high availability and have long durability, characteristics observed in the substrate SP + WS + CS.

Table 1 - Root length (cm), shoot length (cm), root dry mass (g), dry mass part of the air (g), number of leaves (un), first emergency count (%) and seedling emergence (%) of Pitomba, in two maturation stages submitted to different

substrates, IFTO - TO, 2019.

Treatments	RL	SL	RDM	SDM	NL	FEC	SE
RIPE FRUIT HARVESTED IN PLANT							
Black Soil (BS)	15,5A b	8,9A b	2,3A b	4,4A b	4A b	54A c	60A b
Washed Sand (WS)	17,0Aa	12,0Aa	3,8Aab	6,2Aa	6Aa	84Aab	90Aa
Commercial Substrate (CS)	17,0Aa	11,3Aab	3,8Aab	6,4Aa	5Aab	77A b	85Aab
BS + WS + Humus	16,0Aab	11,0Aab	3,6Aab	6,2Aa	5Aab	75A b	83Aab
SP + WS + SC	17,7Aa	12,5Aa	4,6Aa	6,4Aa	7Aa	92Aa	97Aa
RIPE FRUIT HARVESTED ON THE GROUND							
Black Soil (BS)	11,6B bc	7,8B b	1,8B b	1,7B c	5Aa	50A b	60A b
Washed Sand (WS)	14,1Bab	11,2Ba	2,7Bab	4,1Bab	5Aa	67Aab	65Bab
Commercial Substrate (CS)	10,0B c	10,1Bab	1,2B b	3,3B b	4Aab	40B b	63Bab
BS + WS + Húmus	13,1B b	10,1Bab	2,5Bab	3,1B b	5Aa	67Bab	66Bab
SP + WS + CS	16,6Aa	12,2Aa	4,2Aa	5,7Aa	6Aa	70Ba	73Ba
C.V (%)	5,5	5,8	3,3	3,8	2,0	15,3	11,9

CV- Coefficient of variation.

Averages followed by the same upper and lower case in the column do not differ from each other by the Tukey test at 5%.

Regarding the highest values of dry mass of the root and shoots, in the two stages of fruit maturation (Table 1), they were obtained when the seeds were sowed on the substrates SP + WS + CS (4.6 cm; 4.2 cm), (6.4 cm; 5.7 cm) and WS substrate (3.8 cm; 2.7 cm), (6.2 cm; 4.1 cm) respectively, and lower on the substrate BS (2.3 cm; 1.8 cm) and (4.4 cm; 1.7 cm), respectively. Probably, the seeds taken from ripe fruits removed from the plant and ground had already reached physiological maturity, where all morphological and functional changes that occur from the fertilization of the egg to reach the moment of harvest, presenting transformations in the size and content of dry matter. Physiological maturity is characterized, therefore, as the maximum point of dry mass content and marked water loss, in addition to changes in the external aspect of fruits, and seeds expressing maximum germination and vigor [11]. The determination of physiological maturity of fruits is important to guide the ideal harvest season, as it helps the planning of this operation in processing, drying, storage and quality control [28]. On the other hand, the number of leaves was not an efficient characteristic in differentiating vigor and viability, since there was no significant difference in the two levels of maturity and between the substrates.

Data regarding the first count of seedling emergence and emergence, as a function of the two levels of fruit maturity and the different substrates are found in Table 1. Once again the highest physiological quality was obtained from the seeds taken from the ripe fruits harvested in the plant (Table 1), where the highest values, ripe fruits harvested in the plant and ripe fruits harvested on the ground, were obtained when the seeds were

sowed in the substrates SP + WS + CS (92 %; 70 %), (97%; 73 %) and WS substrate (84 %; 67 %), (90 %; 65 %) respectively, and lower on the substrate BS (54 %; 50 %) and (60 %; 60 %), respectively. Probably, the Pitomba seeds, taken from the fruit fallen on the ground, already had a water content lower than the moment the fruit reached physiological maturity. To [29], slow dehydration can cause damage to the structure of membranes in recalcitrant seeds because in addition to allowing them to stay longer with high initial water content, they allow an intense respiratory process that degrades the reserve substances and increases heat release. This process also transforms the seed into an excellent medium for the proliferation of micro and macroorganisms [20]. Seedling emergence is one of the most relevant indices in the seed maturation process because it is the variable that determines the value of the seedlings, in addition, the quality of the seedlings produced is directly related to the germination capacity of the seeds [30]. For recalcitrant species, such is *T. esculenta*, seeds should be harvested at physiological maturity, or the closest, since their intense metabolic activity, after fruit fall, can trigger the germination process or accelerate deterioration [31]. The maturation study to determine the physiological maturity point is important for obtaining seed lots of good physiological quality, since seeds of forest species harvested before or after reaching maturity have their quality negatively affected [32].

Conclusion

The Pitomba seeds, removed from the ripe fruits harvested in the plant, sowing on the substrates: SP + WS + CS substrate and WS, showed greater vigor and viability.

References

1. ACEVEDO-RODRÍGUEZ, P. Melicocceae (Sapindaceae): Melicoccus and Talisia. Flora Neotropica, v.87, p.1-178, 2003.
2. LORENZI, H. Brazilian Trees: manual for the identification and cultivation of native tree plants in Brazil. v.1, 7.ed. São Paulo: Instituto Plantarum, 2016. 384p.
3. GOMES, R.P. Brazilian Fruticulture. 2nd ed. São Paulo: Nobel, 1975. 446p.

Comment [DjA3]: Conclusion

Comment [DjA4]: Standardization of writing references like a journal format

Comment [DjA5]: Please write it like a journal format

4. GUARIM, NETO, G.; SANTANA, S.R.; SILVA, J.V.B. Botanical repertoire of the “pitombeira” (*Talisia esculenta* (St.-Hil.) Radlk. - Sapindaceae). *Acta Amazonica*, v.33, n.2, p.237-242, 2003.
5. SOUZA, M.P.; BATAGLION, G.A.; SILVA, F.M.A.; ALMEIDA, R.A.; PAZ, W.H.P.; NOBRE, T.A.; MARINHO, J.V.N.; SALVADOR, M.J.; FIDELIS, C.H.V.; ACHO, L.D.R.; SOUZA, A.D.L.; NUNOMURA, R.C.S.; EBERLIN, M.N.; LIMA, E.S.; KOOLEN, H.H.F. Phenolic and aroma compositions of pitomba fruit (*Talisia esculenta* Radlk.) assessed by LCMS/MS and HS-SPME/GC-MS. *Food Research International*, v.83, p.87-94, 2016.
6. FRAGA, L.N. Bioactive compounds, antioxidant capacity and cytotoxicity of pitomba [*Talisia esculenta* (St. Hil.) Radlk.] peel and pulp. 2018. 131f. Dissertation (Master in Nutrition Sciences) - Federal University of Sergipe, São Cristovão, 2018.
7. QUEIROGA, A.X.M. Physical, chemical and functional characterization of pitombeira (*Talisia esculenta*) fruits. 2015. 27f. Dissertation (Master in Agroindustrial Systems) - Federal University of Campina Grande, Pombal, 2015.
8. ROMAHN, V. Coniferous trees and palm trees. São Paulo: Editora Europa, 2007. v.1, 137p. (Illustrated Encyclopedia 2200 Plants and Flowers).
9. VIEIRA, F.A.; GUSMÃO, E. Biometry, seed storage and seedling emergence of *Talisia esculenta* Radlk. (Sapindaceae). *Science and Agrotechnology*, v.32, n.4, p.1073-1079, 2008.
10. POPINIGIS, F. Seed physiology. Brasília: Agiplan, 1985. 289p.
11. CARVALHO, N.M.; NAKAGAWA, J. Seeds - Science and production technology. Jaboticabal: Funep, 2000. 588p.
12. SIMÃO, S. Fruit culture treaty. Piracicaba: FEALQ, 1998. 760p.

13. LOPES, J.C.; PEREIRA, M.D. Germination of cubiu seeds in different substrates and temperatures. *Brazilian Seed Magazine*, v. 27, no. 2, p. 146-150, 2005.
14. LOPES, J.C.; SILVA, C.A.; Sobreira, F.M.; MACEDO, C.M.P.; MATHEUS, M.T. Influence of maturation stages on germination and vigor of okra seeds. In: *BRAZILIAN CONGRESS OF OLERICULTURE*, 46., 2006, Goiânia. *Anais...* Brasília: ABH, v.24, 2006. p.2549-2552.
15. DUARTE, D.M.; NUNES, U.R. Initial growth of *Bauhinia forficata* seedlings in different substrates. *Cerne*, Lavras, v.18, n.2, p.328, 2012.
16. SMIRDELE, O.S.; MINAME, K. Emergence and vigor of guava seedlings in different substrates. *Rural Scientific Journal*, Bagé, n. 6, no. 1, p. 38-45, 2001.
17. CUNHA, A.M.; CUNHA, G.M.; SARMENTO, R.A.; CUNHA, G.M.; AMARAL, J.F.T. Effect of different substrates on the development of *Acacia* sp. *Tree Magazine*, Viçosa, v. 30, no. 1, p. 207-214, 2006.
18. ALVES, T.T.L. Potential of vine (*Serjania lethalis*) as a source of nectar for beekeeping in Chapada do Araripe. 2013. 196f. Thesis (Integrated Doctorate in Animal Science) - Federal University of Ceará, Federal University of Paraíba and Federal Rural University of Pernambuco, Fortaleza, 2013.
19. RIBEIRO, S.F. Influence of photoconverting meshes on the anatomical and physiological aspects of *Talisia esculenta* (A. St. Hill.) Radlk. 2014. 91f. Dissertation (Master in Applied Botany) - Federal University of Lavras, Lavras, 2014.
20. CARVALHO, N.M.; NAKAGAWA, J. *Seeds: Science, technology and production*. 5.ed. Jaboticabal: Funep, 2012. 590p.
21. CARRASCO, P.G.; CASTANHEIRA, S.A. Containers and substrates in the production of seedlings of Restinga forest species in Ilha Comprida, SP. *Archives of the Institute of Biology*, [s.l.], v.71, p.305-307, 2004.

22. NAKAGAWA, J. Vigor tests based on seedling evaluation. In: VIEIRA, R.D.; CARVALHO, N.M. Seed vigor tests. Jaboticabal: FUNEP, 1994. p. 49-85.
23. BRAZIL. Ministry of Agriculture and Agrarian Reform. Rules for seed analysis. Brasília: CLAV/DNDV/MA, 1992.
24. GOMES, J.M.; COUTO, L.; LEITE, H.G.; XAVIER, A.; GARCIA, S.L.R. Morphological parameters in evaluating the quality of *Eucalyptus grandis* seedlings. Tree Magazine. v. 26, no. 6; for. 655-664, 2002.
25. AQUINO, A.M.; LOUREIRO, D.C. Wormculture. Embrapa Agrobiology. Seropédica, RJ, 2004.
26. ARAÚJO NETO, S.E.; AZEVEDO, J.M.A.; GALVÃO, R.O.; OLIVEIRA, E.B.L.; FERREIRA, R.L.F. Production of organic sweet pepper seedlings with different substrates. Rural Science, Santa Maria, v. 39, no. 5, p. 1408-1413, Aug. 2009
27. GODOY, W.; FARINACIO, D. Comparison of alternative substrates for the production of tomato seedlings. Brazilian Journal of Agroecology, Cruz Alta, v.2, n.2, p. 1095-1098, Oct. 2007.
28. BITTENCOURT, J.F.N.; SEDER, R.; UNGARO, M.R.G.; TOLEDO, N.M.P. Physiological maturation of sunflower seeds cv. contisol Brazilian Seed Magazine, v. 13, no. 2, p. 8 1-85, 1991.
29. ALVES, US; SILVA, K.B.; BRUNO, R.L.A.; ALVES, A.U.; CARDOSO, E.A.; GONÇALVES, E.P.; BRAZ, M.S.S. Physiological behavior of pitombeira seeds [*Talisia esculenta* (A. ST. Hill) Radlk] subjected to dehydration. Brazilian Journal of Fruticulture, v. 30, no. 2, p. 509-516, 2008.
30. GONÇALVES, E.P.; PAULA, R.C.; DESMATLÊ, M.E.S.P. Vigor tests in seeds of *Guazuma ulmifolia* Lam. Semina: Agricultural Sciences, v.29, n.2, p.265-276, 2008.

31. FONSECA, S.C.L.; FREIRE, H.B. Recalcitrant seeds: post-harvest problems. *Bragantia*, Campinas, v.62, n.2, p.297-303, 2003.

32. BARBOSA, J.M.; RODRIGUES, M.A.; BARBERIO, M.; ARAUJO, A.C.F.B. Seed harvest and management: maturation of seeds from tropical forest species. In: PIÑA RODRIGUES, F.C.M.; FIGLIOLIA, M.B.; SILVA, A. (Org.). *Tropical forest seeds: from ecology to production*. Londrina: ABRATES, 2015. p.180-189.

UNDER PEER REVIEW